

## Understanding driver distraction

How banning use of cell phones and interactive in-vehicle technology while driving can save lives



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive Summary
The Distracted Driving Problem
Fatalities From Distraction-affected Crashes4
Cell Phone Use Behind the Wheel
Why Multitasking Is a Myth
Multitasking Impairs Performance
Primary and Secondary Tasks
Information Processing in the Brain
Looking but Not Seeing: Inattention Blindness
Cell Phone Ownership Is Near 100%11
Texting and Handheld Bans Are a First Step11
Hands-Free Devices and Voice Command Systems Are Not Safer 12
Using a Cell Phone While Driving Is More Dangerous Than Talking to Passengers or Listening to Music
An Increasing Concern: In-Vehicle Infotainment Systems
Recommendations
Distracted Driving Resources From the National Safety Council 17



### **Executive summary**

Preoccupation with productivity and connectedness keeps a smartphone in the hands of many Americans – even when they are driving.

We all have tasks to accomplish and a limited amount of time to do them. New technologies are developed constantly. Car phones evolved into cell phones, then into smartphones with internet connectivity. Cell coverage became increasingly seamless and fast. This connectivity enabled us to be in constant real-time communication with work, family, friends and social media followers. It is only natural to think that hours spent driving, once thought of as wasted time, could now be made "productive" with use of the phone.

Today, nearly every working-age American has a smartphone with the potential to connect to the wider world through phone calls, email, voicemail, texts, apps and the internet. Despite public sentiment turning against cell phone use while driving, many still admit to engaging in this dangerous behavior. Even beyond Bluetooth connectivity, automakers and phone software developers are creating ways to morph the handheld phone operating system into the vehicle itself, through an interface in the in-vehicle infotainment system (IVIS) console or the steering wheel.<sup>1</sup>

While use of hands-free technology might be marginally safer than use of handheld devices, eliminating driver use of all types

### Our lives are more valuable than any call, email or text that arrives while we are driving.

of cell phones and IVIS will always be the safest option. Research shows that any driver use of electronic devices increases cognitive distraction – the inability to focus on a primary task such as driving. The human brain is not capable of multitasking, or doing two things at once. Instead, the brain is constantly attention-switching between the two tasks, never giving full focus to either one. This means that even when people engage with their IVIS system, they simply cannot also focus on driving.

Cognitive distraction is harmless if one is at home, using a phone and watching TV at the same time. It can be deadly if one is using a phone while driving.

A split second of distraction can be deadly, and we should not accept fatalities as the price of productivity. With over 2,800 deaths due to distracted driving in 2018 alone, our country cannot afford to ignore the cost of lives lost.<sup>2</sup> That is why the National Safety Council is calling on employers, legislators, manufacturers and drivers to take bold action.

**Employers:** Enact a distracted driving policy banning all employee use of cell phones or mobile devices while they are driving on or off the job, including hands-free and voice command systems. Employers can and should be at the forefront of a cultural change to make the use of in-vehicle technology while driving unacceptable. Ban phone meetings and other communications with employees while they are driving.

**Legislators:** Pass strong laws which prohibit the use of electronic devices while driving and allow for robust enforcement and public education efforts. Just 25 states plus the District of Columbia have passed legislation making it illegal to use a handheld cell phone for all drivers, and 48 states plus the District of Columbia have enacted texting bans for all drivers.<sup>3</sup>

Vehicle and smartphone manufacturers: Make interactive invehicle technology simpler and more intuitive so driver attention is not diverted from the primary task of driving. Design IVIS technology that prevents the use of inherently distracting activities. Build apps into cell phones, portable electronics and IVIS that disable apps and stops transmission of texts and calls to the driver while the vehicle is in motion. As a default, once a driver's cell phone is detected moving at roadway speeds, lock out its use.

**Drivers:** Do not use hands-free or handheld cell phones, voice command systems or interactive in-vehicle technology such as dashboard touchscreens while driving. Program navigation devices and music before you put the vehicle in motion; do not interact with these or other apps while you are driving. Answer texts and emails while the car is safely parked and not just stopped in traffic, at a sign or red light. Install a motion-sensitive app on cell phones or turn phones off completely and focus on the complex task of driving.

This report presents the research behind these recommendations. Our lives are more valuable than any call, email or text that arrives while we are driving.

## The distracted driving problem

Distracted driving is inattention that occurs when drivers divert their attention from driving to focus on another activity. Distractions may be from using electronic devices such as cell phones or navigation systems, or other types of distractions such as eating or even talking to passengers.

Most people recognize when they are visually and/or manually distracted and seek to disengage from these activities as quickly as possible. However, people typically do not realize when they are *cognitively* distracted.

### **Types of Distraction Behind the Wheel**

**Cognitive:** The mental workload associated with a task that involves thinking • about something other than driving

**Manual:** Tasks that require the driver to take a hand off the steering wheel • and manipulate a device

Visual: Tasks that require the driver to look away from the roadway

**Visual/Manual:** Tasks that draw eyes and a hand off steering wheel to manipulate a device

### **Types of Tasks**

**Primary** – Task that receives higher cognitive focus

Secondary - Task that is monitored in the background

## Fatalities from distraction-affected crashes

National Safety Council data analysis shows 2,841 people died in distraction-affected crashes in 2018. This means eight people die every day on our roads from a completely preventable cause. The same year, an estimated 276,000 people were injured in distraction-affected crashes, and there were an estimated 659,000 distraction-affected crashes resulting in property damage only.<sup>4</sup>

## Distraction-affected Crashes Are Undercounted

Crashes due to cell phone use and other types of distraction are undercounted because distraction is not always noted on police crash reports. Some crash reports identify distraction as a distinct reporting field, while others depend on identification of distraction from the narrative portion of the report. As of 2017, 26 states lacked fields to capture texting and 32 states lacked fields to capture hands-free cell phone use. Additionally, only three states have fields to record the use of infotainment and voice-based systems.

Eight people die every day on our roads in distractionaffected crashes.



### Cell phone use behind the wheel

The AAA 2017 Traffic Safety Culture Index reveals that people in the U.S. value safe travel and desire a greater level of security than they currently are experiencing on the roads. Unsafe driving behaviors – such as red-light running, texting while driving and impaired driving – are perceived as posing serious threats to personal safety. However, despite these strongly held concerns, many individuals admit engaging in unsafe driving practices like cell phone use.<sup>8</sup>



Drivers think cell phone use is distracting ... for other people

## Why multitasking is a myth

"Multitasking" is valued in today's culture, and the desire for increased productivity makes it tempting for drivers to engage in tasks that are unrelated to driving. Drivers may believe they can safely do two things at once; however, a driver always must be prepared to respond to the unexpected.

Under most driving conditions, drivers are performing well-practiced driving tasks. For example, experienced drivers automatically slow down when they see yellow or red lights, and activate turn signals when intending to make a turn or lane change. Staying within a lane, noting the speed limit and navigation signs, and checking rear- and side-view mirrors are also automatic tasks for most experienced drivers. People can do these driving tasks safely with an average cognitive workload, such as listening to music. During the vast majority of road trips, nothing bad happens, but that can lead people to feel a false sense of security or complacency when driving.

People often think they are effectively accomplishing two tasks at the same time. It is possible to complete a phone conversation while driving and arrive at the destination without incident, but it is a misconception that the tasks can be done simultaneously and as safely as possible.

- 1. People do not "multitask." Their attention switches back and forth between tasks very quickly.<sup>11</sup>
- 2. People cannot accomplish more than one cognitively demanding task in the same time frame with optimal focus and effectiveness given to each task. One task is primary and the other is secondary.



## Multitasking impairs performance

A driver's response to sudden hazards, such as another vehicle, weather conditions, work zones, animals or objects in the roadway, is often the critical factor between a crash and a near-crash. When the brain is experiencing an increased workload, information processing slows and a driver is much less likely to respond to unexpected hazards in time to avoid a crash.

For example, people can safely walk down the sidewalk while chewing gum in a city crowded with motor vehicles and other hazards. That is because one of those tasks – chewing gum – is not a cognitively demanding task.

When chewing gum and talking, people are still able to visually scan the environment for potential hazards:

- Light poles along the sidewalk
- · Boxes suddenly pushed out a doorway at ground level before the delivery man emerges
- Moving vehicles hidden by parked vehicles
- · Pets on leashes
- · Uneven sidewalks

People do not perform as well when trying to accomplish two attention-demanding tasks at the same time. <sup>12</sup> Even pedestrians are distracted while talking on cell phones. <sup>13,14,15</sup> The solution is easy: Make driving the primary focus and perform other cognitively demanding tasks only when safely parked. Attentive drivers have a better chance of avoiding a crash with a distracted driver or pedestrian.

### **Robye Nothnagel, Distracted Driving Crash Survivor**

In February 2017, Robye suffered severe injuries when an 18-year-old distracted driver hit her as she crossed the street.

Robye survived the crash after spending three weeks in the hospital and rehabilitation, and months more learning to walk again. She started researching distracted driving crashes during her recovery. Robye found that nine out of 10 people die when hit by a car that was traveling at the speed of the car that hit her, so she was very grateful to have survived.

She decided to share her story in an effort to create awareness of the devastating consequences of distracted driving. As a member of the NSC Survivor Advocate Network, she frequently speaks to large audiences about this deadly crisis.

Learn more about the NSC Survivor Advocate Network at nsc.org/survivoradvocates



Robye Nothnagel

## Primary and secondary tasks

Primary task: Task that receives higher focus

Secondary task: Task that is monitored in the background

Attention-switching: The cognitive process of changing the primary task to secondary, and vice versa

Cognitive workload: The amount of processing needed by the brain to accomplish a task

When a person performs two tasks at the same time, the brain identifies and processes one as a primary task and the other as a secondary task. The primary task gets the most focus while the secondary task is monitored in the background. As an example, driving should be a primary task and listening to music should be a secondary task. Listening to music is a low cognitive-workload task because it does not require driver interaction.

### **Attention-switching**

The cognitive process of shifting between primary and secondary tasks is called attention-switching. Attention-switching is necessary because the brain has a limited capacity for processing information and can only focus on accomplishing one task at a time. When the driver's two tasks are driving and responding to a disembodied voice or a voice command system, a higher volume of attention-switching is needed, and the secondary task may require a higher cognitive workload. For example,

finding and selecting a playlist on a smartphone may require the driver to visually, manually and cognitively interact with several smartphone menus. This series of tasks requires a high cognitive workload so the brain switches this to the primary task until it is completed. For that period of time, driving becomes the secondary task and focus on driving moves into the background.

Driving should never be the secondary task. The driver's most important responsibility is to arrive safely at the destination.

## Information processing in the brain

When driving in demanding environments such as highway traffic, urban streets or extreme weather, the brain constantly processes huge amounts of information related to the primary task of driving. The brain's information-processing steps align with the acronym SPIDER: scanning, predicting, identifying, decision-making and executing a response.<sup>17</sup>



**Scanning:** Constant visual assessment of the environment for potential hazards

**Predicting:** Anticipating potential hazards even before they are seen

**Identifying:** Recognizing the existence of a hazard

**Decision-making:** Choosing what action to take and whether to initiate action

**Executing a Response:** Acting in time to avoid the hazard

Any distraction can stop this linear process. When drivers engage in a secondary task such as using a cell phone, the SPIDER process is interrupted and the ability to drive safely can be severely impacted. <sup>18</sup> One study showed that because certain types of secondary tasks require a higher cognitive workload, including using voice command systems, drivers executing high cognitive-workload secondary tasks decrease how much they scan the environment for hazards. <sup>19</sup>

Any secondary task, even one as small as tapping a touchscreen, could divert the brain from processing information about the primary task of driving and result in a crash.

## DISTRACTED DRIVING CONTRIBUTES TO WORK ZONE CRASHES

Drivers talking on hands-free phones in simulated work zones took longer to reduce their speed when the vehicle in front of them was slowing down, even when the scenario included clues that traffic was going to stop; sideswipe crashes were also more common.<sup>20</sup> Drivers not paying attention for any length of time – answering a phone call, returning a text message or being distracted by a passenger – are 29 times more likely to be involved in a collision or near collision in a highway work zone.<sup>21</sup>

## Looking but not seeing: inattention blindness

Vision is the most important way drivers get the information they need to drive safely. Yet drivers using cell phones have a tendency to "look at" but not "see" objects. Estimates indicate drivers using hands-free cell phones look at but fail to see up to 50% of the information in their driving environment.<sup>22</sup> Cognitive distraction causes the driver to divert attention from the visual scene, and only a portion of the information the driver sees is processed by the brain.<sup>23</sup> Even when a driver's eyes are on the road and hands are on the wheel, cognitive distraction causes significant impairments to driving – known as tunnel vision.

### Inattention Blindness





Figure 1. Driver's field of vision without cell phone use

Figure 2. Driver's reduced field of vision with cell phone use

Distracted drivers experience inattention blindness. They are looking out the windshield, but do not process everything in the roadway environment necessary to effectively monitor their surroundings, seek and identify potential hazards, and to respond to unexpected situations.

To explore how cell phone use can affect driver visual scanning, Transport Canada's Ergonomics Division tracked the eye movements of drivers who were using hands-free phones, and again when these drivers were not on the phone. The boxes in Figures 1 and 2 show

where drivers looked.<sup>24</sup> In addition to looking less at the periphery, drivers using hands-free phones reduced their visual monitoring of instruments and mirrors, and some drivers entirely abandoned those tasks. At intersections, these drivers made fewer glances to traffic lights and to traffic on the right. Some drivers did not even look at traffic signals.<sup>25</sup>

Inattention blindness is dangerous when a driver fails to notice events in the driving environment, either too late or at all. It may be impossible to execute a safe response such as steering or braking to avoid a crash.<sup>26</sup>

#### MIND WANDERING

The primary task of driving requires higher attention when conditions are complicated, such as heavy traffic, bad weather, unfamiliar roads or other potential hazards. What happens if the driving environment is boring? If there is little or no traffic or weather to contend with? If automated driver assistance systems take over some of the driving tasks such as adaptive cruise control and lane-keeping assistance?

Mind-wandering – daydreaming or internal distraction – can cause drivers to focus more on their thoughts than on the road.<sup>27</sup> Research into the effects of mind-wandering is in early stages and could eventually be used in developing advanced driver assistance systems to aid hazard mitigation.<sup>28</sup>

## Cell phone ownership is near 100%

A 2019 Pew Research Center survey found that nearly every working-age American has a cell phone, and just slightly fewer have a smartphone with internet capability.<sup>29</sup>

Cell phone and smartphone ownership by age group<sup>30</sup>

Age group	Any cell phone	Smartphone
18-29	99%	96%
30-49	99%	92%
50-64	95%	79%
65+	91%	53%

At any given time during the day, nearly 1 out of 10 drivers is using a cell phone.

Figure 3.

According to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), an estimated 9.7% of drivers were using some type of phone, either handheld or hands-free, at any typical daylight moment in 2018.<sup>31</sup> This alarming number means that at any given time during the day, nearly one

out of 10 drivers is using a cell phone. Moreover, 3.2% were visibly using a handheld cell phone or electronic device. This probability-based survey provides the best estimate of actual cell phone use versus crashes.

## Texting and handheld bans are a first step

There is near-total public consensus that texting while driving is a serious driving safety issue, so texting receives a great deal of attention. Texting bans have been enacted in 48 states plus the District of Columbia.<sup>32</sup> While no state yet prohibits all adult drivers from any cell phone use, 25 states plus the District of Columbia prohibit handheld cell phone use, and 38 states plus District of Columbia prohibit novice drivers – someone driving under the state's graduated driver's licensing laws – from any cell phone use.<sup>33</sup>

Texting while driving is dangerous due to the combination of physical, visual and cognitive distraction it requires, but we should not be complacent about other types of driver use. Any type of cell phone or IVIS use by drivers is distracting, and therefore no type is safe.

A multi-pronged approach is necessary to change driver behavior when it comes to distracted driving – including stronger laws, better enforcement and education. To this end, primary-enforced handheld bans are a step in the right direction, allowing for better enforcement and education about the risks of distracted driving. However, texting and handheld cell phone bans do not mean that other types of cell phone use are safe. Banning all electronic device use while driving is the safest policy choice.

### A Moment of Distraction Takes the Life of Camryn Lunsford

Camryn was killed on the way home from work in February 2018. She was texting a friend while driving and crashed into the back of a semi-trailer truck. She died less than a month from her 18th birthday and three months before her high school graduation. Camryn's mother, Michelle, speaks about the life-and-death consequences of distracted driving as part of the NSC Survivor Advocate Network.



Michelle and Camryn Lunsford

Banning electronic device use while driving is the safest choice.

## Hands-free devices and voice command systems are not safer

Americans have increasingly accepted that handheld cell phone use is dangerous for drivers, and alternatives such as hands-free devices and voice command systems have been embraced by consumers and manufacturers alike. Supporting legislation to remove the phone from the driver's hand is a step toward eliminating manual distractions and keeping driver hands on the wheel. However, while hands-free options may be marginally safer than handheld devices, eliminating driver use of all types of cell phones and IVIS will always be the safest option.

Hands-free devices and voice command systems are often seen as complete solutions to the risks of driver

distraction because they reduce visual distraction – looking away from the road – and manual distraction – removing hands from the steering wheel. However, cognitive distraction, taking one's mind off the road, is a danger resulting from any driver interaction with cell phones or IVIS technologies.

Hands-free devices and voice command systems create a cognitive distraction as the driver mentally engages with interactive tasks. And even though these systems are labeled hands-free, they may require the use of buttons or touchscreens that are also manually and visually distracting.

Hands-free devices communicate wirelessly with a cell phone. Hands-free devices include:

- Bluetooth headsets that are paired wirelessly with cell phones
- Factory-installed or aftermarket IVIS communication devices that are integrated into vehicles' steering wheel and/or dashboard

Voice command systems may be built into IVIS or cell phones. Common examples are personal-assistant interfaces that execute voice-activated dialing and other operations, and speech-to-text functions.

The cognitive distraction from paying attention to conversation or IVIS alerts – from listening and responding to a disembodied voice – is the same on both handheld and hands-free devices, because the driver's brain is allotting some of its processing power to the phone conversation rather than scanning the road, tracking the movement and position of other vehicles and watching for hazards.

### **Distraction From Voice Command Systems**

Voice command systems may seem to be a step forward in eliminating in-vehicle driver manual and visual distraction, but a recent study shows this is not the case.<sup>34</sup> As noted above, the cognitive processing required to hear and process information from a disembodied voice distracts drivers from the road. In addition, voice command systems can have a time lag between receiving a command and executing it, causing periods

of distraction as the driver waits for the next step in the process. These systems also cause distraction due to inaccurate processing of voice commands and complex, multi-step menus. While voice recognition systems slightly reduce visual distraction, the benefits of reduced visual demand were offset by longer interaction times.

Hands-free devices and voice command systems are cognitively distracting while driving.

# Using a cell phone while driving is more dangerous than talking to passengers or listening to music

Drivers talking on cell phones make more driving errors than drivers talking with passengers do.<sup>35</sup>



Drivers on cell phones are more likely to drift out of lanes and miss exits than drivers talking with passengers.<sup>36</sup>



Adult passengers can actively help drivers by monitoring and discussing traffic.<sup>37</sup> Passengers tend to suppress conversation when driving conditions are demanding.<sup>38,39</sup> However, some conversations with passengers can be distracting to drivers.<sup>40</sup>



The social expectation is higher for returning a text or speaking to someone on the phone because the person on the other end does not see a challenging driving environment and suppress conversation in response the way a passenger does.  $^{41,42}$ 



Listening to music did not result in slower response time in simulator studies. But when the same drivers talked on cell phones, they did have a slower response time. Voice communication influenced the allocation of visual attention, while low- and moderate-volume music did not.<sup>43</sup>



Listening to music or even talking with passengers may still be distracting. Loud music can prevent drivers from hearing emergency sirens, and cognitive processing can lead to a decline in vehicle control.<sup>44</sup>



## An increasing concern: In-vehicle infotainment systems

More vehicles today have touchscreen systems, infotainment options and other features that divert driver attention from the roadways. With this increase in in-vehicle infotainment technology, the possibility exists that the number of distracted driving crashes will rise.

**In-vehicle infotainment systems (IVIS):** Factory-installed or aftermarket devices that are built into vehicles' steering wheels and/or dashboards for communication and information access. This can include:

- Dashboard touchscreen with backup camera, navigation system, radio and other apps
- Personal assistant software that uses voice commands to place phone calls, text, email and/or access the Internet
- · Wired or wireless integration with cell phones and portable entertainment devices

While backup cameras are valuable safety features, these dashboard screens often have additional technology built in: touchscreens with navigation systems, radios, apps and integration with cell phones. In 2019, 82% of new vehicles sold were equipped with a touchscreen, up from 53% five years ago. 45 As vehicles with touchscreens and other IVIS systems become the norm on our roadways, the potential for distraction will also increase. Manufacturers include these features because they believe customers want to maintain connectivity and be entertained while they are on the road.

Just because IVIS technology is installed in the vehicle does not mean it is safe to use while driving. Research shows that IVIS technology using voice commands decreases visual and manual distraction compared to cell phones, but cause high levels of cognitive distraction due to how long it takes to complete a task.<sup>46</sup>

Just because IVIS technology is installed in the vehicle does not mean it is safe to use while driving.

### **Voice Command Systems**

Voice command systems reduce visual distraction, but when used as a secondary task may still produce levels of cognitive workload that impact safety as compared with driving as the only task. Speech-to-text systems, where an app translates voice commands to written words for texting and emails, are even worse, and have been shown to increase cognitive workload more than any other secondary task.<sup>47</sup>

More research is needed to investigate if improved interface designs for voice command systems may reduce cognitive distraction. Ideally, these improvements could include:

- Simpler, more intuitive interfaces that require less visual demand
- Processes that eliminate repetitive tasks to shorten usage times
- Voice command systems with greater accuracy in understanding driver input
- Integrated function that blocks the ability to program navigation, use touchscreens, send and receive communications while driving

Ease of use and the amount of resulting distraction in IVIS technology varies widely from manufacturer to manufacturer. These systems may be refined to be simpler, faster and more intuitive to use in the future, but it still is safest to use IVIS features while the vehicle is parked.

## AUTOMATED VEHICLE CRASH FATALITY REINFORCES THE IMPORTANCE OF ATTENTIVE DRIVERS

An automated driving system (ADS) is technology that will eventually enable vehicles to take over much of the task of driving – known in popular media as "self-driving cars."

In 2018, a test vehicle equipped with an automated driving system (ADS) and a human operator struck and killed a pedestrian in Arizona. The ADS detected the pedestrian less than six seconds before impact but did not process the information correctly. The driver was distracted until a fraction of a second before the crash by a cell phone that she placed in the center console. While many factors combined to create this tragedy, the National Transportation Safety Board concluded in part:

- Had the vehicle operator been attentive, it is likely she would have had enough time to avoid the crash or mitigate its impact
- The vehicle operator's prolonged visual distraction led to her failure to detect the pedestrian in time to avoid the crash

"Automation complacency," over-reliance on automated features of a vehicle to the point where attentiveness is reduced, was a significant contributor to this crash. As all types of vehicles integrate such technology as backup cameras, blind spot warning, forward collision warning, automatic emergency braking, lane departure warning and other features, drivers may become dangerously complacent about their responsibilities behind the wheel.

A 2019 study found that use of adaptive cruise control and lane-keeping assistance at the same time resulted in a 50% increase in engaging in any type of secondary task and an 80% increase in engaging in visual and/or manual secondary tasks, compared with when the same drivers who were not using the automated systems. Drivers using both systems simultaneously also spent less time looking at driving-related tasks.<sup>49</sup>

Technology available today cannot replace an attentive driver. Technology works with us but not without us.

### Recommendations

The evidence is clear: Distraction can be deadly. Therefore, actions must be taken to eliminate distracted driving and the deaths and injuries it causes.

#### **EMPLOYERS**

- Enact a distracted driving policy banning all employee use of cell phones or mobile
  devices while they are driving on or off the job, including use of hands-free and voice
  command systems; use the National Safety Council Safe Driving Employer Toolkit to
  enact the policy, gain buy-in and train employees
- Participate in Distracted Driving Awareness Month each year to reinforce your distracted driving policy and encourage employees take the distracted driving message home to their families and friends; sign up at nsc.org/justdrive
- Have employees take NSC Defensive Driver Training courses; more information is available at nsc.org/ddc
- Become an NSC Member and stay informed of the latest information on road and workplace safety; learn more at nsc.org/membership

#### **LEGISLATORS**

- Pass strong laws prohibiting the use of devices while driving
- Upgrade secondary enforcement laws to primary enforcement laws, which will allow for robust enforcement of current distracted driving laws
- Implement comprehensive public education campaigns on the dangers of distracted driving in conjunction with enforcement efforts

### **VEHICLE AND SMARTPHONE MANUFACTURERS**

- Design IVIS technology that is simpler and more intuitive
- Design IVIS technology that prevents inherently distracting activities such as:
  - Displaying video not related to driving
  - Manual text entry for text messaging, email or internet browsing
  - Interacting with social media content, text-based advertising or text messages
- Build apps into cell phones, portable electronic devices and IVIS that stop transmission
  of texts and calls to the driver while the vehicle is in motion

#### **DRIVERS**

- Do not interact with cell phones, apps or IVIS technology unless you are safely parked
- Send or answer texts and emails, program navigation systems and set up radio stations and playlists before or after driving
- Engage in only the lowest cognitive-workload secondary tasks such as listening to audio entertainment or talking to passengers
- Install a blocking app that stops phone notifications while the vehicle is in motion, or simply turn the phone off for the duration of the trip
- Do not call or text others if you think they may be driving
- Take the NSC Distracted Driving Pledge at nsc.org/pledge and ask family and friends to do the same









## Distracted driving resources from the National Safety Council

### SAFE DRIVING EMPLOYER TOOLKIT

Implement a cell phone policy and educate employees on safe driving habits in the areas of distraction, impairment, automated driver assistance systems and seat belts.

- Get the free toolkit at nsc.org/safedrivingkit
- Get the white paper Undercounted is Underinvested: How Incomplete Crash Reports Impact Efforts to Save Lives at nsc.org/crashreport

#### **FOCUS ON THE DRIVE E-NEWSLETTER**

Free quarterly newsletter provides employers with the latest news on distracted driving and other road safety issues.

• Read the current issue and subscribe for free at nsc.org/focusonthedrive

#### **ROAD TO ZERO COALITION**

Join the Road to Zero coalition and be part of the movement to end all roadway deaths by 2050. The coalition focuses on three initiatives:

- · Doubling down on what works through proven, evidence-based strategies
- · Advancing life-saving technology in vehicles and infrastructure
- Prioritizing safety by adopting a safe system approach and creating a positive safety culture
- Find out more and join for free at nsc.org/roadtozero

### **NSC DEFENSIVE DRIVING COURSES**

In 1964, the Council pioneered the country's first Defensive Driving Course. Since then, NSC has trained more than 75 million drivers in all 50 states and around the world. Thousands of companies – Fortune 100 corporations, small businesses, nonprofits and community service agencies – use NSC to educate their employees and professional drivers.

• Find out more at nsc.org/ddc

### **ALIVE AT 25 YOUNG ADULT DEFENSIVE DRIVING PROGRAM**

This interactive NSC program teaches young adults how to make safe, respectful and legal driving decisions, taking personal responsibility for their own actions, attitudes and driving behaviors.

Find out more at nsc.org/aliveat25

### **DRIVEITHOME.ORG**

Parents have the most influence over their teens' driving habits. NSC created DriveitHOME.org as a one-stop, free resource for parents searching for proven tools to help keep their teens safe as they learn to drive.

· Find out more at driveithome.org

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- <sup>1</sup> AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety (2018). 2017 Traffic Safety Culture Index. Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://aaafoundation. org/2017-traffic-safety-culture-index/ on Nov. 4, 2019.
- <sup>2-3</sup> National Safety Council, *Injury Facts* (website). Distracted Driving Data Details. Retrieved from https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/motor-vehicle/ motor-vehicle-safety-issues/distracted-driving/data-details/ on Nov. 4, 2019.
- <sup>4</sup> National Safety Council, *Injury Facts* (website). Distracted Driving. Retrieved from https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/motor-vehicle/motor-vehicle-safety-issues/distracted-driving/ on Nov. 4, 2019.
- <sup>5-6</sup> National Safety Council (2017). Undercounted is Underinvested: How Incomplete Crash Reports Impact Efforts to Save Lives. Retrieved from https://www.nsc.org/Portals/0/Documents/ DistractedDrivingDocuments/Crash%20Report/Undercounted-is-Underinvested.pdf on Nov. 30, 2019.
- National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (website). About MMUCC. Retrieved from https://www.nhtsa.gov/mmucc-1 on Nov. 30, 2019.
- 8-9 AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety (2018). 2017 Traffic Safety Culture Index. Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://aaafoundation. org/2017-traffic-safety-culture-index/ on Nov. 4, 2019.
- National Safety Council (2016). Distracted Driving Public Opinion Poll: March, 2016. Retrieved from https://www.nsc.org/ Portals/0/Documents/NewsDocuments/2016/DD-Methodology-Summary-033116.pdf on Nov. 11, 2019.
- <sup>11</sup> Just, M. A., Carpenter, P. A., Keller, T. A., Emery, L., Zajac, H., & Thulborn, K.R. (2001). Interdependence of nonoverlapping cortical systems in dual cognitive tasks. *NeuroImage*, 14(2), 417-426.
- <sup>12</sup> Hallowell, E. M. (2005). Overloaded circuits: Why smart people underperform. *Harvard Business Review*.
- <sup>13</sup> Nasar, J., Hecht, P., & Wener, R. (2008). Mobile telephones, distracted attention, and pedestrian safety. *Accident Analysis and Prevention 40*, (1) 69-75.
- <sup>14</sup> Hatfield, J., & Murphy, S. (2007). The effects of mobile phone use on pedestrian crossing behavior at signalized and unsignalized intersections. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39 (1), 197-205.
- <sup>15</sup> Neider, M.B., McCarley, J.S., Crowell, J.A., Kaczmarski, H., & Kramer, A. F. (2010). Pedestrians, vehicles, and cell phones. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 42(2), 589-594.
- <sup>16</sup> Dux, P. E., Ivanoff, J., Asplund, C. L., & Marois, R. (2006). Isolation of a central bottleneck of information processing with time-resolved FMRI. *Neuron.* 52 (6), 1109-1120. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.11.009
- Biondi, F., Turill, J. M., Coleman, J. R., Cooper, J. M., & Strayer, D. L. (2015). Cognitive Distraction Impairs Drivers' Anticipatory Glances: An On-Road Study. Proceedings of the Eighth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design. Retrieved from https://drivingassessment.uiowa.edu/sites/drivingassessment.uiowa.edu/files/wysiwyg\_uploads/005.pdf on Nov. 4, 2019.
- <sup>18</sup> Strayer, D. L., & Fisher, D. L. (2016). SPIDER: A Framework for Understanding Driver Distraction. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society.* 58(1), 5–12. Feb. 1, 2016. doi: 10.1177/0018720815619074

- <sup>19</sup> Biondi, F., Turill, J. M., Coleman, J. R., Cooper, J. M., & Strayer, D. L. (2015). Cognitive Distraction Impairs Drivers' Anticipatory Glances: An On-Road Study. Proceedings of the Eighth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design. Retrieved from https://drivingassessment.uiowa.edu/sites/drivingassessment.uiowa.edu/files/wysiwyg\_uploads/005.pdf on Nov. 4, 2019.
- <sup>20</sup> Muttart, J. W., Fisher, D. L., Knodler, M., & Pollatsek, A. (2007). Driving Simulator Evaluation of Driver Performance during Hands-Free Cell Phone Operation in a Work Zone: Driving without a Clue. Transportation Research Board 2007 Annual Meeting. Washington, DC.
- <sup>21</sup> Bharadwaj, N., Edara, P., & Sun, C. (2019). Risk Factors in Work Zone Safety Events: A Naturalistic Driving Study Analysis. *Transportation Research*, 2673(1), 370-387.
- <sup>22</sup> AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety (2014). 2013 Traffic Safety Culture Index. Retrieved from https://aaafoundation.org/2013-traffic-safetyculture-index/ on Nov. 30, 2019.
- <sup>23</sup> Strayer, D. L., Turrill, J., Cooper, J. M., Coleman, J. R., Medeiros-Ward, N., & Biondi, F. (2015). Assessing Cognitive Distraction in the Automobile. *Human Factors*, 57(8), 1300-24.
- <sup>24</sup> Noy, Y. I. Human Factors Issues Related to Driver Distraction From In-Vehicle Systems. (PowerPoint slides). Retrieved from https://www. nhtsa.gov > Multimedia > PDFs > Driver Distraction/Noyl\_ppt.pdf
- <sup>25</sup> Harbluk, J. L., Noy, Y. I., Trbovich, P. L., & Eizenman, M. (2007). An onroad assessment of cognitive distraction: Impacts on drivers' visual behavior and braking performance. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 39(2), 372-378.
- <sup>26</sup> Wickens, C. D., & Horrey, W. J. (2009). Models of Attention, Distraction, and Highway Hazard Avoidance. In *Driver Distraction: Theory, Effects, and Mitigation*. Ed. Michael A. Regan, John D. Lee, Kristie Young. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group: Boca Raton, FL.
- <sup>27</sup> Nijboer, M., Borst, J., van Rijn, H., & Taatgen, N. (2016). Driving and Multitasking: The Good, the Bad, and the Dangerous. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 7. 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01718.
- <sup>28</sup> Baldwin, C. L., Roberts, D. M., Barragan, D., Lee, J. D., Lerner, N., & Higgins, J. S. (2017). Detecting and Quantifying Mind Wandering during Simulated Driving. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 11(406). doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00406.
- <sup>29-30</sup> Pew Research Center (2019). Mobile Fact Sheet. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/ on Nov. 4, 2019.
  - <sup>31</sup> National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (website). Driver Electronic Device Use in 2018. Retrieved from https://crashstats.nhtsa. dot.gov/Api/Public/ViewPublication/812818 on Nov. 26, 2019.
- 32-33 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (website). Distracted Driving. Retrieved from https://www.iihs.org/topics/distracted-driving on Dec. 2, 2019.
- <sup>34</sup> Biondi, F. N., Getty, D., Cooper, J. M., & Strayer, D. L. (2019). Examining the effect of infotainment auditory-vocal systems' design components on workload and usability. *Transportation Research* (62)520–528, April 2019.
- 35:37 Drews, F. A, Pasupathi, M., & Strayer, D. L. (2008). Passenger and cell phone conversations in simulated driving. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 14(4), 392-400.

- <sup>38</sup> Crundall, D., Bains, M., Chapman, P., & Underwood, G. (2005). Regulating conversation during driving: a problem for mobile telephones? *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behavior*, 8(3), 197-211.
- <sup>39</sup> Charlton, S. G. (2009). Driving while conversing: Cell phones that distract and passengers who react. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 41(1), 160-173.
- <sup>40</sup> Laberge, J., Scialfa, C., White, C., & Caird, J. (2004). Effects of passenger and cellular phone conversations on driver distraction. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1899. TRB, National Research Council: Washington, DC, 109-116.
- <sup>41</sup> Charlton, S. G. (2009). Driving while conversing: Cell phones that distract and passengers who react. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 41(1), 160-173.
- <sup>42</sup> Crundall, D., Bains, M., Chapman, P., & Underwood, G. (2005). Regulating conversation during driving: a problem for mobile telephones? *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 8(3), 197-211.
- <sup>43-44</sup> Bellinger, D. B., Budde, B. M., Machida, M., Richardson, G. B., & Berg, W. P. (2009). The effect of cellular telephone conversation and music listening on response time in braking. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour 12*(6), 441-451.

- <sup>45</sup> Barry, K. (May 2019). Choose an Infotainment System You'll Love. Consumer Reports. Retrieved from https://www.consumerreports.org/ automotive-technology/choose-an-infotainment-system-you-will-love/ on Nov. 12, 2019.
- <sup>46</sup> Mehler, B., Kidd, D., Reimer, B., Reagan, I., Dobres, J., & McCartt, A. (2015). Multi-modal assessment of on-road demand of voice and manual phone calling and voice navigation entry across two embedded vehicle systems. *Ergonomics* 59(3), pp. 344–367. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2015.1081412.
- <sup>47</sup> Biondi, F., Turill, J., Coleman, J., Cooper, J., & Strayer, D. (2015). Cognitive Distraction Impairs Drivers' Anticipatory Glances: An On-Road Study. Proceedings of the Eighth International Driving Symposium on Human Factors Assessment, Training and Vehicle Design. doi: 10.17077/drivingassessment.1546
- <sup>48</sup> National Transportation Safety Board (2019). Collision Between Vehicle Controlled by Developmental Automated Driving System and Pedestrian. Retrieved from https://www.ntsb.gov/news/events/ Documents/2019-HWY18MH010-BMG-abstract.pdf on Nov. 30, 2019.
- <sup>49</sup> Dunn, N., Dingus, T.A., & Soccolich, S. (2019). Understanding the Impact of Technology: Do Advanced Driver Assistance and Semi-Automated Vehicle Systems Lead to Improper Driving Behavior? [Abstract.] AAA Foundation for Traffic Safety.

Distracted driving causes thousands of injuries and deaths every year. Find out what you can do to stop this dangerous practice.



